THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

SEP 17 2018

Appeal from Greenville County Court of Common Pleas **S.C. SUPREME COURT**
The Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000480

Karriem Provet,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III, ESQ.
LAUREN C. HOBBS, ESQ.

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III, ATTORNEY AT LAW, LLC
522 North Church Street
Greenville South Carolina 29601
(864) 331-1612

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Greenville County grand jury for trafficking cocaine 100 grams or more and resisting arrest. (2005-GS-23-3478, 2002-GS-23-4288). App. p. 2; pp. 142-144. Greenville County Assistant Solicitor John D. Newkirk prosecuted the case. William B. Long, Jr., Esquire¹ represented Petitioner. Prior to trial, Petitioner moved to suppress drug evidence from the traffic stop that formed the basis for the charges. App. pp. 159-160. Following a pretrial hearing on the motion, the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen denied the motion and trial proceeded on August 7th and 8th, 2007. App. p. 167-271. The jury found him guilty of both charges. App. pp. 470-71. Petitioner was sentenced to one (1) year imprisonment for resisting arrest and twenty-five (25) years imprisonment for trafficking cocaine, both sentences to run concurrent. App. p. 475, ln. 6-16; pp. 483-484.

Petitioner timely appealed. Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire perfected the appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence on January 31, 2011. *State v. Provet*, 391 S.C. 494, 706 S.E.2d 513 (Ct. App. 2011). The Supreme Court of South Carolina granted certiorari and following oral argument in June 2013, this Court affirmed the decision of the Court of Appeals on August 14, 2013. *State v. Provet*, 405 S.C. 101, 747 S.E.2d 453 (2013). Remittitur was issued on August 30, 2013.

Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application (PCR) raising numerous grounds on July 24, 2014. App. pp. 25-31. Respondent, represented by Senior Assistant Attorney General Karen C. Ratigan, filed a return to the application on January 8, 2015. App. pp. 34-37. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 26, 2017 before the Honorable Daniel Dewitt Hall. Undersigned counsel, William G. Yarborough III, represented Petitioner. Assistant Attorney

¹ Hereinafter referred to as Trial Counsel.

General DeShawn H. Mitchell represented Respondent. Petitioner and Trial Counsel were present for the hearing and testified. App. pp. 45-62; pp. 75-117. The PCR Court dismissed Petitioner's PCR on February 13, 2018. App. pp. 1-24. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Suppression Hearing Testimony

The charges arose from a traffic stop on May 1, 2002 on Interstate 85 in Greenville County. App. p. 188, ln. 7-18. Petitioner was pulled over by Corporal John Owens for following another driver too closely, specifically less than two car lengths, as well as driving with a burned out tag light. App. p. 188, ln. 7-25. Petitioner was driving alone in a 1997 Ford Expedition that day. App. p. 188, ln. 14-17, 21-22.

Owens approached the passenger side of Petitioner's vehicle and informed him of the reason for the stop and asked for his drivers license and registration. App. p. 189, ln. 7; p. 190, ln. 1-5. After Petitioner complied with the request, Owens directed him to exit the car and walk to the rear of the vehicle. App. p. 190, ln. 6; p. 191, ln. 15-20. The vehicle was registered to a person other than Petitioner, which Owens referred to as a "third-party vehicle"— a common practice in drug trafficking or drug transportation due to the lack of connection between the driver and the owner of the vehicle App. p. 190, ln. 7-8, 15-22. Owens also stated that he saw Petitioner heavily breathing and his hands shake during the stop, an indication to him that Petitioner was nervous. App. p. 191, ln. 1-3. Owens further explained that although a majority of the drivers he has pulled over do not appear as nervous as Petitioner; normally some drivers appear nervous and have accelerated breathing. App. p. 191, ln. 6-9. Although Owens did not indicate that he believed Petitioner had a weapon in his possession or that Petitioner may endanger his safety in anyway, Owens asked Petitioner if he could pat him down for weapons and Petitioner allowed him to do so. App. p. 192, ln. 1-16. Owens found no weapons or other contraband on Petitioner's person. App. p. 192, ln. 14-19. Owens sometime thereafter escorted

Petitioner to the passenger side of the patrol car where he began writing out the warning citation.

App. p. 192, ln. 18-20.

With Owens and Petitioner now standing inside the space of the open passenger door of the patrol car, Owens prompted questions to Petitioner about various topics, both related and unrelated to the traffic stop. App. p. 193. Petitioner stated he had no weapons, alcohol, or drugs in the vehicle. App. p. 195, ln. 3-15. When Owens had asked about where he had been coming from, Petitioner stated he had been visiting his girlfriend whom lived in the Greenville area and that he had stayed at a Holiday Inn while visiting her. App. p. 193, ln. 3-4, 1-10. Owens opined that this response was odd to him because the point on the interstate at which he had observed the traffic infractions had been prior to the exit leading to a nearby Holiday Inn in Greenville. App. p. 193, ln. 1-13. Owens did admit he did not know which Holiday Inn Petitioner stayed at in the area and Petitioner, whom is not from the area, was unsure which of the Holiday Inns he had stayed. App. p. 193, ln. 13-24. Owens testified that he nonetheless believed that Petitioner "was giving [him] clues that he was deceptive in his answer or wasn't being completely truthful", but added still that Petitioner may not have known exactly where in the Greenville area he had been. App. p. 193, ln. 18-24. Owens also pointed to Petitioner's statement that he had no luggage in the trunk, but because Owens appears to have read from the incident report or other notes during the suppression hearing, a typo relates Petitioner as stating he had no luggage in the truck, which was odd to Owens due to Petitioner's two day visit. App. p. 194, ln. 20-25. Owens explained that he subsequently saw Petitioner did have a duffel or travel bag in the backseat. App. p. 195, ln. 1-2. Further, Petitioner had told Owens that their visit had been a "spur of the moment thing". App. p. 195, ln. 4.

According to Owens, Petitioner also explained that the vehicle was registered to a girlfriend other than the woman he had been visiting. App. p. 193, ln. 25 – p. 194, ln. 1-2. Owens testified that in response to his other questions, Petitioner stated he had never been in trouble with the law and had recently graduated from a technical skills program but was not then employed. App. p. 194, ln. 1-4. Owens explained that he would increasingly narrow his questions as the stop continued “[d]epending on how broad his answer was to my question.” App. p. 195, ln. 10-21. However, Owens added that “[i]t was not an interrogation or anything like that. It was not something he had to - -”. App. p. 195, ln. 21-23. Owens did not recall whether he asked the same question multiple times or in multiple forms. App. p. 225, ln. 2-8.

After questioning Petitioner, Owens “called for Trooper Aman to start heading to the location”, and although Owens said he had been in the process of writing the ticket throughout this time, Owens did not call in to dispatch for a check on Petitioner’s drivers license or the vehicle registration until then. App. p. 197, ln. 1-4. Thus, Owens and Petitioner began waiting for the license and registration check and for Aman to arrive from there on. App. p. 197, ln. 1-5. Owens testified, “You are doing a lot of other functions while you are writing a warning citation. Not only talking to the Defendant, but you are also running drivers license checks. All that other information. There are all kinds of things going on at the one time. You’re also listening to the radio for any other officers...” App. p. 212, ln. 11-13. Owens stated that the time needed to write a warning ticket “depends on what is involved in writing the citation”. App. p. 212, ln. 2-3. Owens conceded that many of his questions to Petitioner before calling for a check on the documentation were not related to the traffic stop but stated: “I think any time a law enforcement officer since 9/11, I think it is our duty, it is our obligation not only to just look at the traffic stop in general but look at the totality of the circumstances involved to make sure that

there is no other criminal activity involved as well." App. p. 214, ln. 24-25 – p. 215, ln. 1-4. Owens felt he wrote the warning ticket as expeditiously as possible and did not delay the process. App. p. 225, ln. 1-17.

During the time Owens and Petitioner waited for Aman to arrive with the dog and for the license and registration check to come back, Owens decided to return to the Ford Expedition² to confirm that the VIN number matched that on the registration and confirm that the VIN number on the door matched the number printed on the windshield's sticker. App. p. 197, ln. 5-11. Owens did not provide any specific reason to believe the vehicle may have been stolen besides that it was registered to a person other than Petitioner. As Owens checked the VIN number, he noticed the following items inside the vehicle: fast food bags, several receipts, air freshener, and one (1) cellphone in the center console, which he had not noticed on his "initial approach of the vehicle" immediately after he pulled Petitioner over. App. p. 198, ln. 1-16. Owens concluded that there was criminal activity afoot upon seeing these items on this "second approach of the vehicle." App. p. 198, ln. 18-22. Owens admitted that the one single cellphone did not trigger his suspicion. App. p. 217, ln. 12-16. Owens later testified he did not take the food bags, the air fresheners, or luggage bag into evidence. App. p. 217, ln. 5-18.

Owens testified that after his second approach, he returned to where Petitioner was standing, and waited for the check on the documentation to come through. App. p. 201, ln. 1-8. Aman had been arriving to the scene at this time. App. p. 201, ln. 4-5. Once receiving confirmation from dispatch, Owens thereafter gave Petitioner the warning citation and his belongings back. App. p. 201, ln. 1-8. Owens then explained the warning citation to Petitioner, which Petitioner stated he understood. App. p. 201, ln. 10-11.

² Owens referred to returning to the Ford Expedition as his "second approach" of the vehicle. App. p. 198, ln. 3-4.

Owens then “asked him point-blank ‘can I search your vehicle?’” with Aman³ standing at his side and within an arms length of Petitioner. App. p. 201, ln. 12-16; ln. 21-24; p. 218, ln. 9-13; p. 221, ln. 19-21, p. 227, ln. 13-17. Petitioner replied by asking: “Do you want to search my vehicle?”. App. p. 201, ln. 12-16; ln. 21-24. Owens did not see Petitioner’s hands shaking when he asked for consent to search like he stated he saw at the beginning of the stop. App. p. 216, ln. 16 – p. 217, ln. 4. According to Owens, Petitioner ultimately gave consent to search.⁴ App. p. 201, ln. 16-20. Owens agreed with Trial Counsel on cross-examination that he asked for consent to search the vehicle immediately after returning Petitioner’s license and registration, describing the sequence as returning the documents then— “slam, bam” —asking for consent to search immediately thereafter. App. p. 216, ln. 4-12.

Owens acknowledged that the traffic stop was not complete until he releases Petitioner. App. p. 215, ln. 14-18. Owens did not inform Petitioner at any time that he was free to leave, including when returning his driver’s license and registration. App. p. 216, ln. 1-4; p. 224, ln. 25 – p. 225, ln. 1. Likewise, Aman did not tell Petitioner he was free to go or that he could refuse consent. App. p. 236, ln. 16-25. Further, Owens repeatedly testified that when asking for consent to search, Petitioner was not free to go and Owens would not have let him leave if he had tried; but “[h]e should have felt free to go. He had all his items back.” App. p. 221, ln. 24-25; p. 222, ln. 1-11, p. 225, ln. 18-21. If Owens had only seen Petitioner’s hands shaking, quickened breathing, and third party registration before issuing the warning citation it was “questionable” whether Owens would have let him go. App. p. 223, ln. 3-25, p. 224, ln. 1-9.

³ Aman joined Petitioner and Owens where they were standing but the drug dog remained inside the vehicle at this point. App. p. 201, ln. 21-24. Aman testified that the stop lasted a few minutes after he arrived. App. p. 230, ln. 7-11.

⁴ At the suppression hearing, Trial Counsel argued Petitioner’s response was incoherent. App. p. 247, ln. 13-25. Petitioner has always denied giving consent to search. App. 89, ln. 2-10.

Owens stated he then instructed Aman to run the drug dog around the vehicle “even though I had consent. The canine is just another tool to use and maybe even expedite the situation.” App. p. 203, ln. 3-6. Owens testified that Petitioner then ran across the highway and over the barrier to the fence line before he was ultimately apprehended and arrested. App. p. 204, ln. 6-13. Following a positive alert from the dog, the numerous officers then on the scene searched the vehicle and found cocaine in a plastic bag. App. p. 205, ln. 1-17; App. p. 229, ln. 18-25. The video from the traffic stop was admitted into evidence during the suppression hearing and at trial. App. p. 206, ln. 6 – p. 207, ln. 10; p. 310.

The video shows that the traffic stop lasted approximately ten (10) minutes before the warning ticket was issued. App. p. 244, ln. 15-24; *see* Traffic Stop Video. Trial counsel characterized the stop as “a normal period of time” when arguing that the drug evidence should be suppressed. App. p. 248, ln. 17-18. Solicitor Newkirk argued that the stop was not unreasonably long and the officers “did not elongate the initial traffic stop in an unreasonable amount”, relying on *State v. Jones* in support. App. p. 249, ln. 22-25, p. 250, ln. 1-16; p. 254, ln. 20-23. Solicitor Newkirk acknowledged it was not a consensual encounter. App. p. 251, ln. 9-10. In ruling on Petitioner’s suppression motion, the trial judge found the 10-minute length of the traffic stop reasonable and that the State had met its burden to prove Petitioner’s consent to search was voluntarily given. App. p. 263, ln. 4-7.

PCR Hearing Testimony

At the PCR hearing, PCR Counsel entered into evidence the South Carolina Highway Patrol’s dispatch radio logs from the traffic stop which reveal that the stop was over an hour in length rather than ten (10) minutes as purported at trial and depicted in the video. Respondent did not question or object to the authenticity of the dispatch records. App. p. 43, ln. 17-22. The codes

used throughout the call log correspond to identifiable codes used between dispatch and law enforcement. App. p. 73, ln. 13-25. A page deciphering the codes was available to the PCR court as well. App. p. 75, ln. 1-4. Further, the trial transcript contains Owens's translation of the codes he used when calling into dispatch, which are the same listed codes in the radio logs and heard on the video. App. p. 320, ln. 22 – p. 321, ln. 1-7. Specifically, Owens testified at the suppression hearing that code "10-27" stands for a drivers license check, code "10-28" stands for a vehicle registration check, and code "10-29" stands for an outstanding arrest warrant check. App. p. 320, ln. 22 – p. 321, ln. 1-7. During the hearing, Petitioner identified his North Carolina driver's license number 22226836 in the records, which is also listed on his arrest warrant. App. p. 141.

According to the video, he was pulled over at 2102 or 9:02 p.m.. Video; App. p. 91, ln. 12. The video shows Petitioner got out of the vehicle at Owens's request at 21:03 or 9:03 p.m. Video; p. 244, ln. 17-18. According to the video and trial testimony, his license and registration were called into dispatch at 21:08 or 9:08p.m. App. p. 97 ln. 23-25, p. 98, ln. 1. However, according to Owens's very own trial testimony deciphering the meaning of the codes, Owens did not call into dispatch for the licensed check and drivers license check until 2212 or 10:12 pm from the radio logs. App. p. 155, 8th row down. App. p. 155; p. 97 ln. 23-25, p. 98, ln. 1-2. Code 10-27 is also used at 2216 or 10:16. App. p. 155, 12th row down. Thus contrary to the video and Owens's testimony as to the length of the stop and time of each event, approximately one (1) hour and ten (10) minutes passed between Petitioner being pulled over and from when Owens radioed to dispatch to check Petitioner's license, registration, and for any active arrest warrants.

Trial Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that suppression was the pivotal issue in the case with the length of the stop being a major factor. App. p. 46, ln. 3-4; p. 48, ln. 4-5. Trial counsel stated he did not view the video of the traffic stop until just prior to the suppression

hearing. App. p. 46, ln. 16-19. Consequently, Petitioner did not view the video until just prior to the hearing as well. App. p. 66, ln. 24 – p. 47, ln. 1-3. Trial Counsel did not recall there being over an hour-long lag in the video's recording time. App. p. 49, ln. 14-25. Trial Counsel stated he did not think to review or use as evidence the dispatch radio logs showing this time lag but admitted they would have impacted the ruling on the suppression issue. App. p. 49, ln. 14 – p. 50, ln. 1-4; p. 53, ln. 4-8. Trial counsel stated he thought the length of the traffic stop, approximately ten (10) minutes long, was already long, but explained a traffic stop lasting an hour or more would have certainly strengthened the case. App. p. 52 – p. 53, ln. 1-2. Trial Counsel recalled that when viewing the video with Petitioner before the suppression hearing, Petitioner informed him that the entire traffic stop lasted far longer than what was depicted in the video. App. p. 55, ln. 12-16. Petitioner addressed this point to Trial Counsel in their previous meetings as well. App. p. 60, ln. 2-24.

Private investigator, Peter Skidmore has over 25 years of experience in this particular field of evidence-gathering and investigation, and was retained to investigate the video recording of the stop. App. p. 63, ln. 11 – p. 64, ln. 11-12. Skidmore had never worked as a highway patrolman but testified he was familiar with their recordkeeping from his experience working on past cases involving the department's records. App. p. 68, ln. 11-13. Skidmore obtained and reviewed a copy of the video and the radio logs and testified that two were not consistent as to the timing and length of the officers' actions according to trial testimony as well as the total length of the stop. App. p. 64, ln. 15-16, p. 65, ln. 6-9. Skidmore was only able to obtain a copy of the video. App. p. 65, 10-16. Skidmore had worked with an expert in California with the training and expertise necessary to determine whether the tape had been tampered with, but was unable to do so because the original tape had long been destroyed. App. p. 64, ln. 20-25 – p. 65,

ln. 1. Skidmore stated there is no apparent reason to explain the time discrepancy. App. p. 67, ln. 17-21

Petitioner testified he had asked Trial Counsel to review the video before trial and even filed a motion *pro se* requesting some action by the court or the clerk's office to allow him to watch it. App. p. 84 – p. 85, ln. 1-15. Before Skidmore had received a complete copy of the radio logs, Petitioner testified he had first requested a copy in 2006 while detained pending trial but had not received any reply and only obtained a copy, albeit incomplete, after he requested Appellate Counsel to request them for him. App. p. 76, ln. 10-15; p. 113, ln. 12-21. Petitioner stated he had given the records to Appellate Counsel but was informed they were unusable for his appeal because they were not introduced into evidence during the suppression hearing or thereafter at trial. App. p. 90, ln. 21-24; p. 78, ln. 23-25 – p. 79, ln. 1-2. Petitioner testified he became motivated to seek out these records after trial because the length of the traffic stop was far longer than depicted at the suppression hearing and at trial. App. p. 79, ln. 10-22. Petitioner had told Trial Counsel this in their various meetings before trial and thereafter, including during the hearing itself. App. p. 85, ln. 16-25 – p. 86, ln. 1-18; p. 99, ln. 18-24; p. 112, ln. 2-16; p. 121, ln. 2-7. During the suppression hearing, he had whispered to Trial Counsel that the testimony about the timing of the dog's arrival could not have been true. App. p. 112, ln. 20-24. Petitioner surmised that Trial Counsel did not believe Petitioner's claims to explain why Trial Counsel had not tried to investigate the length of the traffic stop. App. 112, ln. 9-10. Petitioner also knew of no explanation for the inconsistency. Petitioner also testified that he and Trial Counsel had never seriously discussed Petitioner testifying, and although Petitioner had thought he might want to at the time, Trial Counsel advised, “[I]t was the State's burden, so let the video be the evidence.” App. p. 113, ln. 10-11.

Petitioner's wife, Shontea Smith, testified that prior to trial, she had gotten the video from Trial Counsel with Petitioner's consent and on his behalf. App. p. 120, ln. 7-25. She watched the video before either Trial Counsel or Petitioner and had transcribed the events and the timing of each event according to the video's time stamp. App. p. 120, ln. 19-25 – p. 121, ln. 1; p. 122, ln. 2-7. She gave the transcription to Petitioner who put Trial Counsel on further notice that the video depicts the stop being approximately an hour shorter in length than what had occurred. App. p. 120-121. Smith also related the same to Trial Counsel because he still had not investigated this further as trial grew closer.

At the conclusion of the PCR hearing, PCR Counsel argued that Trial Counsel was deficient for failing to further investigate the length of the stop after being put on notice numerous times and well before trial⁵ that the video the State would play was inconsistent with what had actually occurred by over an hour. App. p. 128, ln. 15-25 – p. 131. PCR Counsel argued that had Trial Counsel presented the evidence that the length of the stop was over an hour, and was thus unreasonably and measurably extended by Owens, there is a reasonable probability that the suppression motion would have been granted. App. p. 128, ln. 15-25 – p. 131; p. 135, ln. 2-8. Respondent countered by arguing that Petitioner had not met the deficiency or prejudice prong to prove ineffective assistance of counsel and was thus not entitled to post-conviction relief. App. p. 132.

The PCR Court denied relief. App. pp. 1-24. The PCR Court did not question the authenticity of the radio log. Rather, the PCR Court reasoned Petitioner was not entitled to relief on this ground because Petitioner and Skidmore were not able to interpret the radio logs because

⁵ Recall that Petitioner testified that he had subpoenaed the records in 2006 when Trial Counsel still had not yet viewed the video or acted on Petitioner's repeated claims the video time setting was wrong. App. p. 76, ln. 10-15; p. 113, ln. 12-21; p. 55, ln. 12-16; p. 85, ln. 16-25 – p. 86, ln. 1-18; p. 99, ln. 18-24; p. 112, ln. 2-16; p. 121, ln. 2-7. Petitioner was tried in August 2007.

they were not their author and had not worked for the Department of Public Safety. App. pp. 19-20. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner had identified the vehicle he drove and his drivers license number in the radio logs, and the PCR Court had Owens's trial testimony deciphering the meaning of the codes in the logs, as well as a guide to the codes used.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR application. *Bannister v. State*, 333 S.C. 298, 302, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). “A PCR judge’s findings will not be upheld if such findings are not supported by probative evidence.” *Gallman v. State*, 307 S.C. 273, 277, 414 S.E.2d 780, 782 (1992) (citations omitted). The Court will also defer to the PCR court’s findings on matters of credibility. *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010). In contrast, questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Lomax v. State*, 379 S.C. 93, 101, 665 S.E.2d 164, 168 (2008).

ARGUMENT

I. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING TRIAL COUNSEL NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INVESTIGATE THE LENGTH OF THE TRAFFIC STOP AND INCONSISTENCIES IN TIME BETWEEN THE VIDEO OF THE TRAFFIC STOP AND DISPATCH RADIO LOGS, WHICH WOULD HAVE REVEALED AT THE SUPPRESSION HEARING THAT THE OFFICER UNREASONABLY AND MEASURABLY EXTENDED THE TRAFFIC STOP IN VIOLATION OF PETITIONER'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

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