STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAR 08 2019

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari
Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Post-Conviction Relief Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000480

S.C. SUPREME COURT

KARRIEM PROVET,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The record amply supports the Post-Conviction Relief Judge's findings that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate the length of the traffic stop, specifically purported inconsistencies between the traffic stop video and dispatch radio logs, and that Petitioner failed to establish any prejudice.

Petitioner argues the Post-Conviction Relief Judge erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate the length of the traffic stop and purported inconsistencies between the traffic stop video and dispatch radio logs, because such an investigation would have established the officer unreasonably extended the traffic stop in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment.¹ Probative evidence in the record amply supports the Post-Conviction Relief Judge's findings that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove 1) Trial Counsel was ineffective, and 2) he was prejudiced by the purported ineffectiveness.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his post-conviction relief action, and when alleging that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that

¹As set forth above, Petitioner raised numerous allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel in his Post-Conviction Relief application, but the only issue Petitioner raises in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is the alleged ineffective assistance of counsel regarding failure to investigate and obtain the radio logs. Therefore, the remaining issues are not before this Court for review.

counsel's performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118; 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the post-conviction relief applicant to prove "counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 697. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if "in light of all the circumstances,

the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” Id. at 690.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain the South Carolina Highway Patrol radio call logs from the night of the traffic stop. He contends the logs show a one hour and ten minute difference between the time the officer testified he stopped Petitioner (10:10 p.m.) and called dispatch for a records check (several minutes later), and the times reflected on the video. He claims the video time stamp indicates the officer actually stopped him at 9:02 p.m., they were on the side of the road for over an hour waiting on the K-9 unit to arrive, and the radio logs show the officer did not call dispatch for a license check until 10:12 p.m. The difference between the video time stamp and the radio logs, and Trial Counsel’s failure to obtain the radio logs prior to trial, do not rise to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel, or constitute such prejudice to Petitioner that there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different.

The radio logs actually substantiate the officer’s trial testimony regarding the time of the stop and license check request. Even though Petitioner failed to present any substantive evidence regarding the meaning of certain codes and handwritten log entries, for purposes of argument, the logs may indicate the officer’s call sign is “R9.”² According to the logs, R9 requested the records check (license and registration) involving Petitioner at 10:12 p.m., which is consistent with the officer’s trial testimony that he stopped Petitioner at approximately 10:10 p.m., talked with him for a few minutes while filling out a warning ticket for the traffic offenses he observed, and then contacted dispatch for the records check. Also according to the logs,

²Absent substantive evidence regarding the Highway Patrol’s code system and method of recording dispatch calls, the assertions herein are based on a generic knowledge of law enforcement dispatch codes, and logical deductions from that knowledge.

dispatch responded with the requested information at 10:16 p.m. (Corrected Appendix, pp. 157, 190-227, 294-327). The approximately thirty minute video, including the time stamp on the video, was entered in evidence and played for the jury. (Corrected Appendix, pp. 311-312).³ Therefore, any discrepancy between the video time stamp and the officer's testimony was already before the jury.

The logs also substantiate R9's testimony that the K-9 officer (apparent call sign "R25") arrived while R9 was completing the warning ticket, which was minutes after R9 requested the K-9 officer's assistance. The logs indicate R25 arrived at 10:15 p.m., approximately four minutes after R9 requested the records check from dispatch, and approximately one minute before dispatch conveyed the records information to R9. Approximately two minutes later (10:18 p.m.), both R25 and R9 alerted dispatch they were chasing the subject on foot, and a call for assistance went out to all officers. (Corrected Appendix, p. 157).

Petitioner's contention he was actually stopped at 9:02 p.m. is belied by the very logs on which he relies. Again, assuming for argument the officer's sign is R9, according to the radio logs, R9 stopped a gold Pontiac with a Texas license plate on northbound I-85 and requested a records check at 9:55 p.m., and then went back in service (10-8) at 10:01 p.m. (Corrected Appendix, pp. 155-156). Therefore, R9 could not have stopped Petitioner at 9:02 p.m., and then waited on the side of the road for over an hour until 10:12 p.m. before requesting a records check on Petitioner.

³The video was transported to the Court on October 29, 2018.

Petitioner submitted no evidence the video presented at trial was altered in any way, and again, the time stamp was displayed on the video itself.⁴ In essence, he asks this court to simply accept his assertion regarding the length of the traffic stop as truth, and then re-examine the analysis of the trial court, the court of appeals and this Court in affirming his conviction.⁵ His argument makes it abundantly clear this case turned primarily, if not solely, on Petitioner's credibility, and the Post-Conviction Relief Judge expressly found Petitioner's testimony at the hearing was not credible. (Corrected Appendix, p. 13). Credibility findings are entitled to great deference on appellate review. *See Frierson v. State*, 423 S.C. 257, 815 S.E.2d 433, 435 (2018) (“[W]e afford great deference to a PCR court's credibility findings.”).

At the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner testified he told Trial Counsel repeatedly that the traffic stop was much longer than the video indicated, including right after he viewed the video with Trial Counsel during the suppression hearing.⁶ (Corrected Appendix, pp. 76-104, 111-115). Significantly, when given the opportunity to testify about the traffic stop after hearing the officer's testimony and viewing the video at the suppression hearing, Petitioner declined to testify even after the trial court advised him nothing he said in his hearing testimony could be used against him at trial. Even though he did not have the radio logs at the time, Petitioner knew what time R9 testified he initiated the traffic stop, and what time was indicated on the video.

⁴There are totally innocent reasons the time stamp on a video could be inaccurate, including daylight savings time, which would automatically create a one hour difference (9:12 p.m. ET on the video is 10:12 p.m. DST), and the jostling a camera mounted inside a law enforcement vehicle may sustain. The video itself, regardless of the time stamp, is the best evidence of what happened during the stop, how long the stop lasted, and when it shifted from a traffic stop to an investigation.

⁵The vast majority of Petitioner's argument in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is rehashing whether the officer's observations during the traffic stop constituted reasonable suspicion to extend the stop, an issue already decided in Petitioner's direct appeal.

⁶Petitioner's wife also testified at the post-conviction relief hearing that she told Trial Counsel Petitioner was “adamant” the traffic stop lasted longer than shown on the video, which she had viewed and actually transcribed prior to trial. (Corrected Appendix, pp. 120-124).

(Corrected Appendix, pp. 241-246). Rather than testify under oath about his version of the traffic stop prior to trial, however, Petitioner sat silent.

The Post-Conviction Relief Judge found Trial Counsel diligently pursued suppression of the video and all evidence obtained thereafter, and Petitioner showed no prejudice resulting from Trial Counsel's performance. On the specific issue regarding the radio logs, the Post-Conviction Relief Judge found the only evidence regarding an interpretation of the logs' contents was the testimony of Petitioner's private investigator, who never worked for the Highway Patrol and never spoke to anyone at the Highway Patrol about the logs' contents, and Petitioner's own self-serving testimony, which was not credible. In the absence of evidence from someone with the Highway Patrol explaining what the logs contained, the Post-Conviction Relief Judge found there was no compelling evidence Trial Counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain the logs, or that the trial outcome would have been different if the logs had been obtained. (Corrected Appendix, pp. 14-15, 19-20, 68).

There is ample probative evidence in the record supporting the Post-Conviction Relief Judge's findings that Trial Counsel's performance was not deficient, and Petitioner was not prejudiced. Trial Counsel vigorously worked to suppress the video and other evidence, and as evidenced by the opinions from both South Carolina appellate courts, created an excellent record for appellate review of the issue. At Petitioner's trial, the jury had the officer's testimony about the time he stopped Petitioner's car, as well as the actual video of the stop with the time stamp displayed, and clearly found the officer's testimony was credible. Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.